A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Richard Hatfield, the appellant below, asks this court to review the 

Court of Appeals decision referenced in Section B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Following the. denial of his motion for reconsideration on December 

18, 2015, Hatfield asks this court to review the Court of Appeals decision in 

In re Detention ofHatileld, _ Wn. App. _, 362 P.3d 997 (2015). 

C. J{3_SUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Hatfield is acutely psychotic. He has not been provided 

with appropriate medical treatment to rule out a physical etiology for his 

psychosis. Instead, the State has locked Hattleld in a cell in the Special 

Commitment Center's Intensive Management Unit, shipped him naked, 

and forcibly medicated him wlth a drug that has proven ineiiective. The 

State has not provided Hatfield with any treatment that would give him a 

realistic opportunity to improve his current mental condition. The nature 

of Hatfleld's commitment under chapter 71.09 RCW bears no reasonable 

relationship to its purpose, given that Hatfield's psychosis renders him 

incapable. of participating in the sex offender treatment the chapter 71.09 

RCW scheme coritemplates. Does. Hattleld's commitment as a sexually 

violent predator violate substantive due process? 
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2. Because this case raises a signi±1cant constitutional 

question and because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with 

decisions of this court, is review appropriate under RAP 13 .4(b )( 1) and 

(3)? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In February 2012, the State petitioned to commit Hatfield under 

chapter 71.09 RCW. CP 1-2. The trial court found probable cause to 

believe Hatl:leld was a sexq_ally violent predator .. CP 4. 

ln October 20 13, the trial court held a competency hearing because 

Hatfield was acutely psychotic and no longer identified himself as Hatfield. 

CP 171. The trial court ±ound Hatilelc\ incompetent because it was 

;'reasonably convinced that Hatfield is not competent to understand the 

significance of legal proceedings and the effect of such proceedings on his 

best interests." CP 176. 

At trial, the State's expert~ forensic psychologist Henry Richards, 

likened .Hatfield's psychosis to a computer crash. RP 221. Richards opined 

liatJleld's psychosis was "more of a mask that we just see less of what's 

going on with him. l-Ie's not making meaningful decisions. In fact you 

could take the point of view that all of his emotional volitional capacity is 

gone right now." RP 227. Richards conceded Hati1eld was not participating 

in treatment at the Special Commitment Center (SCC). RP 285, 287. 
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Nonetheless, Richards concluded Hatt1eld's principal mental abnormality 

was pedophilia or pedophilic disorder and that this mental abnormality made 

Hati1eld more likely than not to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence 

if not confined in a secure facility. RP 145-46, 294. 

Fabian Saleh, M.D. testiGed for the defense. Saleh disputed 

Richard's diagnosis of pedophilia given that the '1children in question, the 

victims, were not prepubescent, but pubescent." RP 624. Saleh also 

challenged Hattkld's commitment based on the need to determine whether 

there was a medical or physical etiology that could explain Hatfield's 

psychotic condition, including conducting a full neurological exmnination, 

lab work, and brain imaging-none of which had been performed in the 

SCC. RP 544-45. Saleh also criticized that the State had medicated Hatfield 

with an antipsychotic medication at the same close for almost a year without 

any positive results. RP 546, 549. This was particularly concerning to Saleh 

because the antipsychotic medication was potentially lethal. RP 550. 

Saleh testit1ed Hatfleld had no risk of sexual violence because there 

was no evidence he was sexually preoccupied or ilmctional; before the 

psychotic break, "there was evidence that Hat11elcl was still sexually active." 

RP 553-54. Saleh stated it would be impossible for Hatfield, in his current 

psychotic state, to groom or sexually assault a child: "as psychoti.c as he is 

and delusional as he is, I don't think he would be able to execute those ... 



planned, organized behaviors, as he did in the past, as far as 1 can see." RP 

631. 

Brian Abbott, Ph.D. also testified for the defense. Abbott explained 

the pedophilia diagnosis was inaccurate given Hat±ieWs ''interest in 
. . 

someone who has adult male 'physical development .... " RP 688. With 

respect to the psychosis, Abbott stated Hatfield had ';done a 180 in terms of 

his mental status. Whatever conditions he had previously to the psychosis 

have receded into the background. Essentially those diagnoses are no longer 

valid. What's taken over his cunent mental status is this psychotic 

condition." RP 679. Like Saleh, Abbott opined there was no evidence 

Hatfield showed any sign of sexual preoccupation, explaining that 

';individuals who[m] l have seen who are psychotic and sexually 

preoccupied-- it's a persistent preoccupation and it's verbalized regularly or 

demonstrated regularly." RP 684. 

The trial court determined Hattleld had a mental abnot~mality, 

pedophilia. CP 155-56; RP 816~;7. The trial court concluded that the 

mental abnormality predisposed Hatfield "to the commission of criminal 

sexual acts in a degree constituting such person a menace to the health and 

safety of others." CP 155. 

The trial court stated the "crux of the issue" is whether the mental 

abnormality was cun:ent. RP 818. The trial court concluded that Hatfield's 
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mental abnormality was current but that it was being "masked" by his 

psychotic symptoms. CP 156; RP 818. According to the tria\ court, "The 

psychotic disorders that cause Respondent to believe he is a different person 

mask Respondent's underlying mental abnormality. The evidence supports 

the conclusion that Respondent's psychotic disorder; if treated correctly, 

would result in Respondent reverting to actual reality~ where he is Richard 

Hatfield. Richard Hatfield has a mental abnormality." CP 156. 

Hatfield appealed. CP 160. HatJ1eld argued that, given his 

psychosis~ the nature of his commitment bore no reasonable relationship to 

its purpose and therefore violated Hatfield's substantive clue process rights. 

Br. of Appellant at 29~40; Reply Br. at l 0-15. The Couti of Appeals · 

mischaracterizecl I-latfleld's substantive due process claim as a challenge to 

the conditions of Hatfield's confinement and affirmed. Hat±lelcl, 362 P.3d at 

101 0~ 11. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

GIVEN HATFIELD'S ACUTE PSYCHOSIS AND RESULTING 
INABILITY TO PARTICIPATE IN SEX OFFENDER 
TREATMENT, TI-TIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO 
ASSESS THE REASONABLENESS OF THE RELATIONSHIP 
BETWEEN THE NATURE AND THE PURPOSE OF 
.HATFIELD'S CHAPTER. 71.09 RCW COMMITMENT UNDER 
THE FOUit1'EENTH AMENDMENT 

"At the least, due process requires that the nature and duration of 

commitment bear some reasonable relation to the purpose for which the 
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individual is committed." Jackson v. Indiana, 406 U.S. 715, 738, 92 S. Ct. 

1845, 32 L. Eel. 2d 435 (1972). "The State's lawful power to hold those not 

charged or convicted of a crime is strictly limited." In re Det. of D. W., 181 

Wn.2d 201,207, 332 P.3d 423 (2014). "Anyone detained by the state due to 

'incapacity has a constitutional right to receive "such individual treatment as 

will give each of them a realistic oppmtunity to be cured or to improve his or 

her mental condition.""' Tel. at 208 (quoting Ohlinger v. Watson, 652 F.2d 

775, 778 (9th .Cir. 1981) (quoting yYyatt v. Sticknev, 325 F. Supp. 781, 784 

(M.D. Ala. 1971))). 

This court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because, in 

violation of the Fourteenth Amendment, no reasonable relationship exists 

between the nature and purpose of Hatfield's commitment under chapter 

71.09 RCW. The purpose of commitment under the 71.09 scheme is to 

provide long term treatment modalities to sex offenders who are not 

amenable to treatm.ent under the involuntary treatment act, chapter 71.05 

RCW, in order to change and improve their sexually violent behavior. See 

RCW 71.09.010. The rmture of commitment is participation in treatment 

aimed an improving or amelior~1ting mental conditions that predispose sex 

offenders to commit acts of sexual violence. Indeed, short of becoming 

physically unable to commit sexually violent acts, the only way to obtain 

release fi'om the sec is through "change in the person's mental condition 



brought about through positive response to continuing participation in 

treatment which indicates that the person meets the standard" for conditional 

or unconditional release. RCW 71.09.090(4)(b). Undisputed evidence at 

trial demonstrated Hat11eld cannot participate in this treatment because of his 

p'sychosis. Because he cannot participate in this treatment, there is no 

reasonable relationship between the purpose and nature of his commitment. 

Hattlcld's commitment violates substantive due process, necessitating 

review under RAP 13A(b)(3). 

The record is plain that Hatfield is not capable ofpmiicipating in any 

sex offet1der treatment until his psychosis resolves. The State's expert, 

I-Ienry Richards, Ph.D., opined Hatfield's psychosis is "more of a mask that 

\Ve just see less of what's going on with him. l-Ie's not making any 

meaningful decisions. In fact you could take the point of view that all of his 

emotional vo.litional capac.ity is gone right now.)! RP 227. Richards 

Emalogized Hatfield's psychosis to "computer software that has a crash .... 

Nothing is working. And then you reboot the system, reload the software, 

you've got the same activities, interests, orientation [as) previously." RP 

221. If the State's sole witness believes Hatfield is unable to make 

meaningful decisions, lacks volitional capacity, and suffers from psychosis 

that masks his other mental issues, it is difilcult to conceive that I-Iatfleld is 

capable of participating in the intensive, long term sex offender treatment 
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contemplated by chapter 71.09 RCW. Indeed, Richards conceded Hatfield 

was not participating in typical treatment groups at the sec given his 

psychotic state. RP 285, 287. 

Hatfield is not currently aware of his sex offender status, has 

exhibited no sign of sexual behavior or preoccupation since his psychotic 

condition arose, and is otherwise incapable of sexual function. RP 552-55, 

559-60, 584, 628, 631, 679, 681, 683-84. As discussed, the purpose of 

chapter 71.09 RCW is to treat sexually violent behavior. Since Hatfield is 

unable to acknowledge any sexually violent behavior-in large part because 

he does not even believe he is Hattlelcl-the sex offender treatment 

contemplated by chapter 71.09 RCW provides Hatfield with no realistic 

opportunity to be cured or to improve his mental condition. ~f. l).W., 181 

Wn.2d at 208. 

Unrebutted evidence at trial demonstrated the SCC is warehousing 

Hat11elcl without providing him the barest potential to improve his psychosis. 

Fabian Saleh, M.D. testitied there might be a physical cause to Hati1elcl's 

psychosis such as a brain lesion or tumor, recommending brain scans and lab 

tests. RP 543A5. The State's expert, Richards, did not dispute this evidence 

and conceded the SCC could not provide the medical treatment Saleh 

deemed necessary. RP 295. Saleh also expressed grave concern about 

Hatfield's antipsychotic medication regime, stating Battle lei "has been 
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treated, I think now for almost a year, with Seroquel/' but "is not responding 

to the treatment." RP 546-47. Saleh criticized the use of Seroquel because 

IIat11eld was ''kept on almost the same close, continued to suffer from the 

symptoms, and there was no intervention, really, to help him improve in 

terms of his clinical presentation." RP 549. Saleh found the State's 

medication regime particularly disturbing given Seroquel' s potentially lethal 

side effects. RP 550. 

Hatfield is not receiving treatment that gives him a realistic 

opportunity to improve his mental condition as the constitution requires. 

Instead, Hatfield is locked in a cell for 23 hours per day, stripped naked, and 

forcibly medicated with a medication that has already proven ineffective at 

improving his condition. RP 577-78, 682. The nature of Hatf1eld's 

commitment under chapter 71.09 R.CW bears no relationship to its purpose 

and pmvides no opportunity tor improvement. Hatfield's commitment 

violates substantive clue process. 

The Court of Appeals refused to assess the relationship between the 

nature and purpose of Hatfield's commitment, instead concluding the 

conditions of [Hatfield's] confinement, and his ability to be 
successfully treated or cured are matters beyond the scope of 
a sex predator trial. As the Supreme Court mmounced [in In 
re Detention of Turay, 139 Wn.2d 379, 404, 986 P.2d 790 
( 1999 )] , the purpose of an SVP trial "is to determine whether 
the defendant constitutes an SVP; it ;s not to evaluate the 
potential conditions of confinement." 



Hatfield, 362 P.3d at 1010. The Court of Appeals' suggestion that it need 

not address whether commitment provides a realistic opportunity to improve 

his mental condition directly conflicts -vvith this comi's statement that 

"[a.jnyOJie detained by the state due to incapacity'' has a constitutional right 

to receive such ameliorating treatment. D.W., 181 Wn.2cl at 208 (emphasis 

added). This conflict warrants review under RAP 13 .4(b )(1 ). 

The Court of Appeals also failed to acknowledge the facts of 

Hati1eld's case that distirl.guish it from Tm:nx. Here. the determination of 

whether Hatfield "constitutes an SVP" was not as straightforward. The trial 

court concluded I-Iatfield's mental abnormality was "being mask.ed ... by his 

psychotic symptoms." RP 818. In its written order, trial court determined, 

"The psychotic disorders that cause [I-:Iatfield] to believe he is a different 

person mask [Hatfield's] undedying mental abnormality." CP 156. Thus, 

the trial court's determination that Hattield constituted an SVP was 

conditional: "The evidence supports the conclusion that [Hatfield]'s 

, psychotic disorder, if treated correctly) would result in [.Hattie! d) reverting to 

actual reality, where he is Richard .Hatfield. Richard Hattlelcl has a mental 

abnormality." CP 156 (emphasis added). According to the trial court, the 

mental abnormality that would qualify Hatfield for commitment will not 

surface until .Hatfield obtains effective treatment for his psychotic condition. 

The mental abnormality that would render Hatfield a sexually violent 
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predator is therefore inextricably intertwined with and. contingent upon 

Hattlelcl 's psychotic state. 

This unique circumstance-a conditional and contingent SVP

qualifying mental abnormality-has never been considered by a Washington 

court. Turay involved a very different circumstance: Turay disputed the 

State's successful "motion in limine to exclude evidence of the conditions of 

confinement at the SCC and ofthe verdict in Turay's federal litigation .... " 

139 Wn.2d at 403. Thus_, Iumy did not involve a substantive due process 

claim but an evidentiary challenge to the trial comt's exclusion of evidence 

regarding conditions of confinement. Lei at 403-04. H.ere, by contrast, 

whether or not Hatfield has a mental abnormality depends on if and whether 

he can be treated for his psychosis. As discussed, the State appears unable or 

unwilling to provide ~my treatment that might reasonably improve Hatfield's 

psychosis. But Hat11eld. \ViU nonetheless be confined at least until his 

psychosis resolves and he can start participating in the long term sex 

otlender treatment the 71.09 scheme contemplates. Turay does not preclude 

Hatfield's substantive due process claim that calls for an assessment of the 

relationship between the· nature of the commitment and the purpose of the 

commitment. Refusing to evaluate the evidence of psychosis and its bearing· 

on Hatfield's mental abnormality and on the pm;pose of Hattielcl's 
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commitment is rethsing to evaluate. the facts of this c.ase. as rc:11ected in the 

trial court's· l1ndings and conclusions. 

Jn ducking the issue this case presents, the Court of Appeals also 

relied on In re Detention of McClatchey, 133 Wn.2d1, 940 P.2d 646 (1997), 

to conclude "a challenge to an SVP commitment petition pre.m.ised upon 

predicted conditions of con11nement was 'premature."' Hattleld, 362 PJd at 

1010. The McClatchey court stated "the only issue presented in this 

interlocutory review is whether the trial cour(s . denial of fl.l1 evidentiary 

hearing was error." 133 Wn.2d at 4. Unlike McClatchey, Hattleld already 

presented ample evidence at trial regarding the complete absence of 

ameliorating treatment available to him-evidence that is more than 

adequate to address the reasonableness of the relationship between the nature 

and purpose of Hatfield's commitment Ct: id. at 5 (11olcling "the 

constitutionality of [chapter 71.09 RCW] as applied to the tacts of 

[McClatchey's] case cannot be dete1111ined" until after commitment). This 

court in McClatchey, moreover, explicitly lett for another day a substantive 

"clue process challenge by showing the nature and duration o:f commitment 

do not bear any reasonable relation to the purpose for which the individual is 

committed.'' Id. (citing Jackson, 406 U.S. 715). Not only does the Court of 

Appeals~ refusal to address Hati:ielcl's subst~ntive clue process claim involve 

a significant constit11tional question, but it also conflicts with McClatchey's 
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acknowledgment that a substantive due process challenge to a chapter 71.09 

RCW commitment remains an open question in Washington. This court 

should grant review under RAP 13 .4(b )(1) and (3) and cm1sider the merits of 

Hatt1eld's substantive due process claim. 

·< I
., 

CONCLUSION 

Because Hatf1eld satisfies review criteria under RAP 13 .4(b)(l) and 

(3), he asks that this court accept review.