RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Mar 24, 2016, 2:14 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 92724-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

RICHARD HATFIELD,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SARAH B. SAPPINGTON Senior Counsel WSBA #14514 Office of the Attorney General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2019 OID #91094

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. There Is No Petitioner Currently Before This Court

Richard Hatfield is deceased and there has been no substitution of parties as required by RAP 3.2.⁵ As such, there is no party currently before this Court in this case. As previously argued,⁶ in light of Hatfield's death, this case is now moot and should be dismissed as such. In the event that it is not dismissed as moot, Hatfield's Petition should be denied as the issue raised is foreclosed by well-established precedent of this Court.

B. Issues Relating To The Conditions Of Hatfield's Confinement Are Beyond The Scope Of A Sex Predator Trial, and Hatfield Cannot Invalidate His Commitment Based On Conditions Of Confinement

In his Petition, Hatfield argued that, because he was psychotic prior to trial, he could not possibly benefit from sex-offender-specific treatment, and as such, his commitment as a sexually violent predator was unconstitutional. Pet. at 1. The State does not concede that the treatment that was or would have been offered to Hatfield upon commitment is in any way inadequate. In any case, the treatment available to Hatfield and the conditions of his confinement after commitment was not relevant to the question of whether he did or did not meet criteria for commitment at the time of trial. Nor does the constitutionality

⁵ Pursuant to RAP 3.2(b), "A party with knowledge of the death...of a party to review...shall promptly move for substitution of parties..."

⁶ See State's Reply to Petitioner's Answer To State's Motion to Dismiss Hatfield's Petition As Moot, filed March 17, 2016.

of his commitment depend upon whether he could have been successfully treated or cured once committed. Hatfield's constitutional challenge fails.

The sex predator statute has repeatedly been found to comport with substantive due process. *In re the Personal Restraint of Andre Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 25-42, 857 P.2d 989 (1993); *Kansas v. Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346, 358 117 S. Ct. 2072, 138 L. Ed. 2d 501 (1997); *In re the Detention of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 742, 72 P.3d 708 (2003); *In re McCuistion*, 174 Wn.2d 369, 384, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012). Hatfield does not address these cases, but attempts to argue that alleged conditions of his pre-commitment confinement invalidate his commitment. It is, however, well established that inadequate conditions of confinement cannot invalidate an otherwise lawful commitment order.

This Court has determined that attempts to invalidate commitment by arguing that conditions of confinement at the SCC are inadequate "demonstrate a fundamental misunderstanding of the purpose of an SVP commitment proceeding." *In re Turay*, 139 Wn.2d at 404. There, Turay had attempted to introduce evidence of the conditions of confinement at the SCC as well as the verdict in his federal litigation relating to those conditions at trial.⁷ *Id*.

Turay filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington against several officials at the SCC. In this suit, which he maintained under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Turay alleged that the conditions of his confinement at the SCC were unconstitutional and thus violated his civil rights under the United States Constitution. A federal court jury found that the officials at the SCC had violated Turay's constitutional right to access to adequate mental health treatment and awarded him \$100.00 in compensatory damages. Following receipt of the verdict, the United States District Court placed the SCC under an injunction "narrowly tailored to remedy this constitutional violation." Turay, 139 Wn.2d at 386. The injunction was dismissed in 2007, the federal court concluding that DSHS

Upholding the trial court's decision to exclude such testimony, This Court, citing RCW 71.09.060(1), stated that "[t]he trier of fact's role in an SVP commitment proceeding, as the trial judge correctly noted, is to determine whether the defendant constitutes an SVP; it is not to evaluate the potential conditions of confinement." (Emphasis in original). "The particular DSHS facility to which a defendant will be committed," the court continued, "should have no bearing on whether that person falls within [the] definition of an SVP." Id. Moreover, the court noted, a person committed under RCW 71.09 "may not challenge the actual conditions of their confinement, or the quality of the treatment at the DSHS facility until they have been found to be an SVP and committed under the provisions of RCW 71.09." Id., citing In re Detention McClatchey, 133 Wn.2d at 5.9

Nor does Hatfield's citation to *Detention of D.W. v. DSHS*, 181 Wn.2d 201, 332 P.3d 423 (2015) change this result. Pet. at 6,8,10. *D.W.* arose within the context of Pierce County's practice of temporarily placing persons detained pursuant to RCW 71.05 in facilities that were not certified evaluation and

had "worked long and hard to meet the constitutional requirements identified by this Court, and there is no longer any basis or the Court's continued oversight." http://seattletimes.nwsource.com/ABPub/2007/03/26/2003637061.pdf

⁸ RCW 71.09.060(1) provides, in pertinent part, "[t]he court or jury shall determine whether, beyond a reasonable doubt, the person is a sexually violent predator.... If the court or jury determines that the person is a sexually violent predator, the person shall be committed to the custody of the department of social and health services [DSHS] for placement in a secure facility operated by the department of social and health services for control, care and treatment...."

⁹ This holding, "applies with equal force" where it is the State, rather than the respondent, who seeks to introduce testimony relating to the conditions of confinement. *In re Detention of Post*, 170 Wn.2d 302, 311, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010).

treatment facilities. 181 Wn.2d at 206. While the *D.W.* Court reviewed constitutional principles relating to detention and treatment of the mentally ill and noted that the Involuntary Treatment Act "embraces these principles," the case was decided on the basis of statutory and regulatory language specific to RCW 71.05. *Id.* at 210. The case has nothing to do with RCW 71.09 or the Special Commitment Center, and does not affect the analysis in this case. *Id.*, 181 Wn.2d at 206.

Moreover, the United States Supreme Court has rejected the idea that civil commitment is constitutional only for those for whom treatment is available. In *Hendricks*, the Court considered the constitutionality of a SVP scheme modeled on and almost identical to that of Washington State. There, Hendricks argued that Kansas' SVP Act "is necessarily punitive because it fails to offer any legitimate 'treatment." *Id.* 521 U.S. at 365. "Without such treatment," Hendricks alleged, "confinement under the Act amounts to little more than disguised punishment." *Id.* This argument is virtually identical to that made by Hatfield, who claims that, because "there is no available effective treatment at the SCC," his commitment to the SCC "is nothing more than an indefinite confinement without a realistic opportunity for Hatfield's condition to improve." App. Br. at 38. The *Hendricks* Court soundly rejected this argument, noting that, while it had "upheld state civil commitment statutes that aim both to incapacitate and to treat, we have never held that the Constitution

prevents a State from civilly detaining those for whom no treatment is available, but who nevertheless pose a danger to others." 521 U.S. at 365.

A State could hardly be seen as furthering a "punitive" purpose by involuntarily confining persons afflicted with an untreatable, highly contagious disease. Similarly, it would be of little value to require treatment as a precondition for civil confinement of the dangerously insane when no acceptable treatment existed. To conclude otherwise would obligate a State to release certain confined individuals who were both mentally ill and dangerous simply because they could not be successfully treated for their afflictions.

Id. (internal citations to authority omitted). See also In re Morgan, 180 Wn.2d 312, 323, 330 P.3d 774 (2014)(holding that due process does not prohibit the commitment of incompetent persons, or require that they be held under the general civil commitment law, RCW 71.05, until competency is restored.)

This does not mean that Hatfield is without an avenue for relief. As noted by the *Turay* Court, the remedy for unconstitutional conditions of confinement at the SCC is an injunction action and/or an award of damages. 139 Wn.2d at 420. *See also Young v. Seling*, 531 U.S. 250, 266, 148 L.Ed.2d 734, 121 S.Ct. 727 (2001) (outlining potential remedies for "the alleged conditions and treatment regime at the Center.") The remedy, however, is not reversal or dismissal of the SVP petition. *Id*.

C. The Trial Court's Order Committing Hatfield Was Not "Contingent" Upon Remission Of His Psychosis

Hatfield argued that his "qualifying mental abnormality" was "conditional and contingent," and dependent upon successful treatment for his psychosis. Pet. at 10-11. He further argued that this "unique circumstance" distinguishes his case from that of *Turay* and gave rise to a due process claim. *Id.* There are two problems with this argument: First, it is not supported by the evidence or by the Findings and Conclusions entered by the trial court, to which he does not assign error. Second, despite his efforts to characterize his as a constitutional challenge, it is, at its core, an argument about the sufficiency of the evidence.

Hatfield argued that the existence of a "qualifying mental abnormality"—and hence his commitment—was "contingent" upon successful treatment because it would not "surface" until he was successfully treated. Pet. at 10-11. In other words, in his pre-trial, decompensated state, he could not be said to meet criteria for commitment, and suggested that the trial court's Order reflected this understanding. There was, however, nothing remotely "contingent" about the trial court's findings, which were clear and unambiguous. The trial court found that Hatfield's "mental abnormality is current, although the symptoms of the mental abnormality may be being masked in some manner by Respondent's psychotic symptoms." CP at 156, Finding of Fact No. 10 (emphasis added). "There was no evidence presented," the trial court continued, "that the presence of psychosis wipes out an

individual's sexual proclivities." CP at 157, Finding of Fact No. 13. "The totality of the evidence, both substantive and expert, supports the conclusion that the Respondent *is* more likely than not to commit a predatory act of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." *Id.*, Finding of Fact. No. 14 (emphasis added).

The trial court's Conclusions of Law were equally clear:

- 5. Beyond a reasonable doubt, Respondent *has* a mental abnormality as defined by RCW 71.09.020(8).
- 6. Beyond a reasonable doubt, Respondent *currently suffers* from that mental abnormality.
- 7. Beyond a reasonable doubt, Respondent's mental abnormality causes him serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior.
- 8. Beyond a reasonable doubt, Respondent *is likely* to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence unless he is confined in a secure facility.
- 9. The State has proven, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Respondent is a sexually violent predator as that term is defined in RCW 71.09.020(18)

CP at 158 (emphases added).

There is nothing "contingent" about any of these Findings or Conclusions, and there was nothing in the trial court's order that supports Hatfield's claim that "the mental abnormality that would qualify Hatfield for commitment will not surface until Hatfield obtains effective treatment for his psychotic condition." Pet. at 10 (emphasis added). Moreover, while certain of the language in the trial court's order is perhaps inartful, Hatfield's central

argument is nonsensical. Had the trial court in fact believed that commitment could only be imposed upon remission of his psychosis through treatment that had not yet happened, it would not have entered an order committing him.

Hatfield's argument is essentially that there is insufficient evidence to show that, in his decompensated state, he could be said to meet criteria for commitment. Although he couches his challenge in the language of due process, this is not a constitutional issue; it is an issue of evidentiary sufficiency that does not merit review.

D. The Record Does Not Support Hatfield's Claims That His Treatment At The SCC Was Inadequate

Even if this Court were to consider Hatfield's argument regarding the adequacy of his treatment at the SCC, this argument fails, in that his assertions regarding the unavailability of appropriate treatment at the SCC are based on a mischaracterization of the record. Hatfield asserts that the State's expert, Dr. Henry Richards, "conceded the SCC could not provide the medical treatment [Dr. Saleh] deemed necessary. RP 295." Pet. at 8. First, the fact that Hatfield was able to find an expert who believed that he should receive different care than that with which he was provided demonstrates only that there could be a difference of opinion regarding the care Hatfield required. Nor is Hatfield's assertion regarding Dr. Richards' "concession" supported by the record. Dr. Richards was asked whether Western State Hospital "is a better place for Mr. Hatfield's current condition than the SCC." VRP at 130. Dr. Richards has had

considerable experience dealing with psychotic persons: After completing his Ph.D in 1987, Dr. Richards worked as an intern and fellow on the special treatment unit St. Elizabeth's John Howard Pavilion, a forensic facility for Secret Service cases, including persons who made threats against the President of the United States, such as John Hinckley. *Id.* at 122. While there, he worked on the special treatment unit, which provides intensive treatment for "severely psychotic" offenders, providing him with an "unusual exposure to psychotic, dangerous people." *Id.* at 122-23. In addition, he worked at Western State Hospital for two separate periods of time and as superintendent of the SCC for four years. *Id.* at 130. While at the SCC, he was responsible for "everything," including staffing, policies, and procedures of the institution. *Id.* at 129.

Responding to the question as to whether Western State Hospital would be a "better place" for Hatfield, Dr. Richards responded that "it is not a better place if the issue is treatment...." *Id.* at 295. Dr. Richards stated that he was not aware of any medical treatments that Hatfield's condition required "that couldn't be met at the SCC but could be met at Western State Hospital" and that, although there are certain "unusual interventions" that are available at Western State Hospital that are not available at the SCC, "it hasn't been determined that [Hatfield] would be in need of them[.]" *Id.* This testimony does not even vaguely resemble Hatfield's characterization of the testimony at trial.

Moreover, while Dr. Saleh believed that medical testing to determine possible physiological bases for Hatfield's psychosis was required, Dr.

Richards testified that he would refer the psychotic person to a psychiatrist "and have them make that decision." VRP at 312. Hatfield, while at the SCC, was under the care of a psychiatrist at the SCC and was being treated with several anti-psychotic medications. *Id.* at 597-98. A difference of opinion between experts regarding the need for additional medical consultation does not render care at the SCC inadequate.

Hatfield also asserted repeatedly that he was "locked in a cell 23 hours per day, stripped naked, and forcibly medicated with a medication that has already proven ineffective at improving his condition. RP 577-78, 682." Pet. at 9. See also Pet. at 1. While it appears that it was at times necessary, due to psychotic episodes, to confine Hatfield and remove clothing that he might use to harm himself or to flood his room, Hatfield's inflammatory statement is not supported by the evidence presented at trial. Due to his psychotic condition, the SCC at times placed Hatfield in the Intensive Management Unit. The Intensive Management Unit, or "IMU," is a "seclusion area" for people presenting with "behavioral issues." VRP at 554. While there, staff checks the resident every 15 minutes and enters that information in a log. Id. at 555. Although it is unclear precisely how much time Hatfield was confined in the IMU, there was no evidence that this was done on anything other than an "as needed" basis. One of his experts, Dr. Abbott, testified that he was placed there for roughly 65 days over a nine-month period of time—that is, for roughly seven days each month, or fewer than 2 days each week. Id. at 682.

Hatfield's allegations regarding being "stripped naked" are also misleading. Dr. Abbott testified that, before a resident is placed in the IMU, the resident's clothing is sometimes removed because "there is concern about how they might hurt themselves or use their clothing to hurt themselves." VRP at 741. The resident's normal clothing having been removed, the resident is then given other clothing "where they can't do anything to harm themselves." VRP at 741. In Hatfield's case, on one occasion, Hatfield's clothing having been removed, he "stuffed the toilet" with the substitute clothing he was given, which then was removed as well. VRP at 742.

Likewise, Hatfield's allegation that he was being treated with drugs with "potentially lethal side effects RP 550[,]" is misleading. Pet. at 9. The drug referred to here is Seroquel, and there is nothing in the record suggesting that the use of Seroquel to treat actively psychotic persons is controversial: When questioned, Hatfield's expert, Dr. Saleh, identified Seroquel as an example of an antipsychotic medication that would be administered to a patient presenting with active symptoms of psychosis. VRP at 548. While trial counsel for Hatfield elicited from Dr. Saleh a list of frightening and dramatic "possible adverse effects" of Seroquel, including "fever, rigidity, confusion, disorientation," and "death," there was no testimony suggesting that Hatfield ever suffered any adverse effects from its administration to him. Indeed, upon objection by the State that there had been no testimony that Hatfield had actually ever suffered any of these side effects, Hatfield's counsel responded that her questioning relating to the drug's

potential effects was intended only to elicit testimony to the effect that the drugs being administered Hatfield affected his sexual functioning. *Id.* at 551.¹⁰ The testimony which Hatfield now seeks to rely upon as proof of his inadequate treatment at the SCC was never introduced for that purpose, and cannot be considered as evidence thereof at this juncture.

V. CONCLUSION

In his brief before the Court of Appeals, Hatfield proposed that the court "reverse the trial court and remand for proceedings that adequately address Hatfield's mental health condition." Brief of Appellant at 40.¹¹ Hatfield is deceased, and this Court can no longer order the remedy he proposed. No party has been substituted to pursue this appeal, nor has any determination of continuing indigency been made. Hatfield's arguments were factually tied to the particulars of his case and of his personal medical condition. There is no realistic possibility that those claims would result in holdings of sufficient importance to justify continuing expenditure of public funds on this appeal. As argued under separate cover, this case should be dismissed as moot.

¹⁰ "Ms. Sanders: So, the side effects that I will ultimately be tying into is that there is—there is—I believe the expert will testify that there is [sic] some side effects to do with sexual functioning, which I think is directly relative [sic] to this case." VRP at 551.

¹¹ That request for relief has changed somewhat with his current Petition, in which he now asks the Court to "grant review ...and consider the merits of Hatfield's substantive due process claim."

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